
essay |  essai

19JSSAC | JSÉAC 34 > No 1 > 2009 > 19-32

In the history of architecture in Canada, 

Paris, Ontario, is known chiefly for its 

nineteenth-century cobblestone buildings 

and the truly monumental Richardsonian 

Romanesque First Presbyterian Church 

(1893) designed by the Chatham-based 

architect T.J. Rutley.2 Yet Paris is also re-

markable for three Victorian Gothic build-

ings which are the focus of this paper. The 

nave of St. James’s Anglican Church (1839) 

is a fine example of the early phase of the 

Gothic Revival in which pointed arches 

pierce the walls of a rectangular box of the 

eighteenth-century classicising tradition 

established by the English architect James 

Gibbs (1682-1754). The chancel of St. James’s 

Anglican (1863-1865) bears witness to the 

revolution in Gothic church design brought 

about by the Cambridge Camden Society—

Ecclesiological Society after 1846—and The 

Oxford Society for Promoting the Study of 

Gothic Architecture. Most unusually and 

spectacularly, there is the civic Gothic of 

the Town Hall (1853-1854), which boasts a 

magnificent six-bay open-timber roof on 

the second-floor Assembly Room, at a time 

when civic Gothic architecture was in its in-

fancy in England. The Town Hall is the work 

of the little-known local architect John 

Maxwell (1803-1889), who also designed 

Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church in 

the town (1857). Financial constraints at 

the time meant that Maxwell’s church 

was left unfinished until 1880-1881, when 

additions and modifications were made by 

the Brantford architect, John Turner (1806-

1887). Turner’s work deviates significantly 

from Maxwell’s prescription and therefore 

the church is a fascinating barometer of 

the impact and modification of the True 

Principles of Medieval Gothic advocated by 

Augustus Welby Pugin (1812-1852). 
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FIG. 1. Paris (ON), St. James’s Anglican Church, exterior from SE, nave 1839, chancel 1863-1865. | Malcolm Thurlby 
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St. James’s Anglican Church 

The church stands at the junction of 

Grand River Street South and Burwell 

Street, on land given by Hiram “King” 

Capron (1796-1872), founder of Paris 

(1829), and his wife. The nave was built 

in 1839 by Levi Boughton, a mason who 

moved to Paris in 1838 from Norman-

dale, New York, and introduced the 

cobblestone-faced masonry technique 

to the village of Paris (fig. 1). Cobble-

stone buildings are extensive in upper 

New York State and the technique may 

be traced to the county of Sussex in 

southern England, as at St. Andrew’s, 

Hove, Brighton (1833).3 The description 

of St. James’s church given in the 1883 

History of the County of Brant, Ontario 

is remarkably well informed in architec-

tural terms: 

The roof is flat, the windows are of the 

kind designated by architectural experts 

“Carpenter’s Gothic,” and the west end is 

surmounted by one of those nondescript 

belfries, terminated by a tin-covered spirelet 

so often seen in country churches in Canada, 

and whose real origin is in the renaissance 

style imported into Lower Canada by the 

French in the eighteenth century.

[The account continues] In 1865, at a cost 

of about $1,000, a chancel was added 

through the exert ions of Dr. T ownley, 

and by the beneficence of Mrs. Dickson 

of Paris. The chancel presents a marked 

contrast to the rest of the church, being 

a genuine Gothic of the “early English,” or 

“first pointed” style. The roof is of open 

work, of dark-stained timber. The east 

window is a triplet, each light bordered 

with stained glass, of which also there 

are four vesica-shaped medallions bearing 

the four Evangelistic symbols, and in the 

centre an Agnus Dei supporting a banner 

with the cross, “displayed.”4 

It is also recorded that “In the basement 

a well attended Sunday school is held, 

numbering 100 pupils.”5 

The description shows an acute aware-

ness of the change in the character of 

ecclesiastical Gothic architecture in the 

quarter century that elapsed between 

the construction of the nave and chan-

cel. The nave is a Gibbsian box with a 

low-pitched roof and a flat ceiling with 

a centrally-placed medallion adorned 

with rich acanthus foliage and a modi-

fied Vitruvian-scroll frame (figs. 2-3).6 

Above the western bay of the nave 

there is a square tower, originally with 

single pointed arches on each side 

(fig. 4), which is surmounted by an oct-

agonal belfry with a pointed opening 

on each side, and a spire (figs. 1 and 

4). A late nineteenth-century photo-

graph shows a “widow’s walk” at the 

top of the tower (fig. 4), as in St. John’s 

Anglican Church, Ancaster (ON), 1824.7 

While medieval architectural precedent 

may be found for the Y tracery of the 

windows, as in the southwest chapel of 

Lincoln Cathedral (circa 1220), the use 

of the pronounced wooden frame with 

Y tracery has rather more in common 

with the eighteenth-century Gothic 

tradition of Batty Langley (1696-1751).8 

It is unlikely that the 1839 church had a 

separate chancel because in 1860, Rev-

erend Townley started a Chancel and 

Sunday School Fund with the view to 

erecting these additions to the church.9 

In 1863-1865 the present chancel was 

erected with the Sunday school in the 

basement and a vestry to the north and 

organ room to the south (figs. 1-4). The 

1863-1865 addition is a fine example 

of the impact of ecclesiology in Angli-

can church architecture in Ontario. On 

the nave and chancel, the Cambridge 

Camden Society stated that: 

FIG. 2. �Paris (ON), St. James’s Anglican Church, interior to E. | Malcolm Thurlby FIG. 3. �Paris (ON), St. James’s Anglican Church, interior from chancel. | Malcolm Thurlby 
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This division, essential in the interior, is not 

always to be traced in the exterior. It is far 

better indeed, generally speaking, that it 

should be marked in both; and to this end 

the breadth of the Chancel should be a little 

less than that of the Nave; a difference of 

four or five feet will be quite sufficient. The 

height of the Chancel is usually less, in the 

same proportion. […] 

The comparative size of Chancel and Nave 

is a point which, within certain limitations, 

must be left to taste. Yet, as a general 

rule, the Chancel should be not less than 

the third, or more than the half, of the whole 

length of the church.10 

The new chancel is “correctly” constructed 

in local fieldstone with a steeply pitched, 

open timber roof and triple lancet win-

dows in the east wall of the chancel to rep-

resent the Trinity: “[t]hree lancets are the 

most usually adopted; these, it need not 

be said, symbolise the HOLY TRINITY.”11 

Moreover, the chancel is raised three steps 

above the floor of the nave—the Camden 

Society prescribed that the chancel “should 

be raised at least two steps at the Chan-

cel arch”12—and the altar against the east 

wall of the chancel is elevated further two 

steps.13 The Camden Society also recom-

mended that the vestry “may be thrown 

out, as was often done, on the north or 

south side of the Chancel.”14 Be that as it 

may, the inclusion of the Sunday school 

in the basement is not part of Camden-

ian doctrine. Instead, it is inherited from 

a non-conformist tradition in which it was 

common to include Sunday school rooms 

as part of a full basement.15 

Analogous additions of a “correct” chan-

cel in Anglican churches in Ontario may 

be seen at St. Mary’s, Picton;16 St. Mark’s, 

Barriefield; Holy Trinity, Hawkesbury;17 

and Christ Church, Holland Landing, 

and a similar arrangement is recorded at 

St. John’s, Ancaster.18 
FIG. 5. �Paris Town Hall, exterior  

from NW. | Malcolm Thurlby 

FIG. 4. �Paris (ON), Town Hall and St. James’s Anglican Church. | Paris Museum and Archives

FIG. 6. �Paris Town Hall, exterior from NW (Paris Mu­
seum and Archives postcard). | Malcolm Thurlby 
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Town Hall and Market

Located at 13 Burwell Street across the 

road and to the southwest of St. James’s 

Anglican Church, the Paris Town Hall is a 

building of great significance in the his-

tory of civic Gothic architecture (figs. 4-6). 

In sharp contrast to the eighteenth-cen-

tury Gothic tradition of the Anglican 

church nave, the Town Hall incorporates 

details from original medieval exemplars, 

and shows that the architect, John Max-

well, was up to date with contemporary 

secular Gothic architecture in Britain. 

History

A committee to report upon a suitable site 

for a Town Hall was formed on February 7, 

1853.19 On February 21, it was announced 

that there was a proposal for a site suit-

able for the Town Hall and Market “from 

the proprietors of Lot No. 7 and half of 

No. 6.”20 John Maxwell is recorded as the 

architect,21 and Gardner and Strickland, 

contractors, tendered for £1957 “the 

building to be finished on the first January 

next.”22 At the Council Meeting of June 23, 

1853, it was moved: “That By Law to raise 

by way of loan the sum of Two Thousand 

Five Hundred Pounds payable in Twelve 

years for the purpose of purchasing a site 

and erecting a Town Hall and Market and 

other Public buildings do now pass.”23 

The motion was carried. On December 19, 

1853, a by-law was passed “to raise by way 

of Loan the sum of £900 for the purpose of 

finishing the Town Hall and Market and for 

the purchase of a fire engine.”24 According 

to the Brant County Gazetteer and Direc-

tory, the cost of the building was about 

twelve thousand dollars.25 

The Architect

John Maxwell was born on May 24, 1803, 

at Kilmadock, Perth, Scotland.26 In 1836 

he is recorded as a member of the first 

Brantford Fire Company. His residence 

(built 1837-1840) is located at 81 Albion 

Street, Brantford.27 He appears in the first 

assessment roll of Brantford, September 4, 

1847, as a builder and overseer of streets 

and walks.28 The designation “builder” 

does not seem to carry a negative con-

notation, because John Turner, the well-

known and prolific Brantford architect 

FIG. 7. �Paris Town Hall, basement, interior to E. | Malcolm Thurlby FIG. 8. �Paris Town Hall, interior, blocked E doorway. | Malcolm Thurlby 

FIG. 9. �Paris Town Hall, ground floor, interior to E. | Malcolm Thurlby FIG. 10. �Paris Town Hall, ground floor, interior to N. | Malcolm Thurlby
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of the nineteenth-century, is also listed 

as a builder. The 1862 Business Direc-

tory lists John Maxwell under “Carpen-

ters and Builders.” The 1869-1870 Brant 

County Gazetteer and Directory lists him 

as a joiner with a home on Albion.29 He 

registers as a “Provincial Land Surveyor” 

on January 23, 1849, and later advertises 

himself as a “Surveyor & Architect,” in 

Hamilton (ON).30 He is listed in the 1851 

Census of the Village of Paris as a civil 

engineer, born in Scotland, age 37, with 

a one-and-a-half storey frame office, and 

of Roman Catholic religion. Also listed are 

his wife, Canadian born, age thirty-four, 

and children, Robert age eleven, Francis 

age eight, May age six, and Joseph age 

four.31 On October 24, 1851, John Maxwell 

places an advertisement in the Paris Star 

and Great Western Advocate as civil en-

gineer, architect, provincial land surveyor, 

Upper Village Paris.32 Research to date has 

revealed nothing of Maxwell’s training. 

Description

The Market House and Town Hall as it 

is described in the eighteen-page Speci-

fications written by John Maxwell, has 

a rectangular plan on an east-west axis 

with north and south wings and a tower 

in the northwest angle for the north 

wing and the hall.33 It has two-and-a-

half storeys with a partial basement in 

which the eastern two thirds are divided 

into six equal aisles by squared wood-

en columns (fig. 7). This area served as 

the “lower market” and was entered 

through a four-centred brick arch at the 

east end, which is now blocked (fig. 8). 

The western third of the basement in-

cluded prisoners’ cells. The ground floor 

is divided longitudinally into three aisles 

with wooden columns which served as 

the market hall, with the council chamber 

and Magistrate’s and Treasurer’s offices 

at the west end (figs. 9-10). The archival 

photograph shows the original Gothic 

fenestration (fig. 11). The vault adjoined 

the Treasurer’s office immediately to the 

east of the doorway to the tower (figs. 10 

and 12). The stairs from the ground floor 

to the hall are located in the west wing. 

The upper story with its magnificent open 

timber roof served as the Assembly Room 

(fig. 13). The lower section of the base-

ment walls are constructed in stone while 

the superstructure is of brick with stone 

FIG. 11. �Paris Town Hall, Council Meeting with Andrew H. Baird, mayor 1877-1879 and 1896 (Paris Museum  
and Archives). | Malcolm Thurlby 

FIG. 12. �Paris Town Hall, ground floor,  
vault. | Malcolm Thurlby 

FIG. 13. �Paris Town Hall, Assembly Room,  
interior to E. | Malcolm Thurlby
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dressings. On the ground floor the walls 

of the council room and offices were plas-

tered but the brickwork of the market 

was left exposed. Moulded bricks articu-

late the doorways and windows, while 

wood is used for the tracery of the point-

ed windows of the four facades of the 

building. The corners of the building are 

articulated with stepped angle buttresses 

with stone pinnacles and weatherings. 

A late nineteenth-century photograph 

shows that the octagonal clasping but-

tresses of the wings were topped with 

crenellated turrets (fig. 4). 

The Architectural Context

By the 1850s Gothic had become the 

preferred style for church architecture 

in Ontario, but this was certainly not the 

case with secular public architecture. In 

the civic realm, the classical tradition pre-

vailed with ultimate reference to Ancient 

Greece and Rome, often filtered through 

Renaissance, Baroque and/or Neoclassical 

intermediaries. Examples abound: George 

Browne’s Kingston City Hall (1841-1844),34 

the Dundas Town Hall and Market by 

Francis Hawkins (1848-1849), St. Cathar-

ines Town Hall by Kivas Tully (1848-1851),35 

Guelph Town Hall by William Thomas,36 

Napanee Town Hall and Market by Ed-

ward Horsey of Kingston (1856),37 Bath 

Town Hall (1866, architect unknown),38 

and Victoria Hall in Cobourg by Kivas Tully 

(1856-1860).39 The unusual choice of the 

Gothic style for the Paris Town Hall is re-

ported in an 1854 newspaper article: 

There is also a very substantial and excellent 

Market House and Town Hall, but the 

style is very remarkable being so strongly 

ecclesiastical that any stranger ill-informed 

to the contrary would at once pronounce 

it a church. It seems strange to find the 

tower of this costly edifice used perchance 

for hunters’ stalls, and its chancel devoted 

to the dispensing of beef and mutton. 

But tastes differ, and if the Parisians are 

satisfied, that is the main thing.40 

Yet by 1859 Gothic was the chosen style 

for the Parliament Buildings in Ottawa.41 

While Gothic was never destined to sup-

plant the classical tradition for monu-

mental public buildings in Canada, it is 

clear that the Paris Town Hall marks a sig-

nificant moment in the history of Gothic 

architecture in that country. Indeed, we 

shall see that John Maxwell was remark-

ably well informed on contemporary Brit-

ish practice and theory concerning Gothic 

architecture. 

Gothic was not without precedent for 

public buildings in Ontario. In the first 

place there is the Middlesex County Build-

ing, London (ON) (1827-1831), built to the 

design of John Ewart, with additions.42 

Something similar is seen in Thomas 

Young’s Wellington District Courthouse, 

Guelph (1837-1844 with additions).43 Both 

buildings belong to an eighteenth-cen-

tury Castellated Gothic tradition, which 

paid little or no attention to the study 

of Medieval Gothic architecture. John 

FIG. 15. �Paris Town Hall, exterior, W doorway, detail. | Malcolm Thurlby FIG. 14. �Paris Town Hall, exterior facade,  
N wing. | Malcolm Thurlby
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Maxwell’s approach to the design of the 

Paris Town Hall was quite different. He 

abandoned romantic eighteenth-century 

Gothicism in favour of precise reference to 

medieval architectural precedent through 

the medium of illustrations of details in 

the architectural press. 

The choice of the Gothic style for the 

Paris Town Hall has been seen as a way of 

distinguishing it from the Greek Revival 

mansions of the town’s mill owners.44 

This may have been a factor and it also 

sets apart the Paris Town Hall from ear-

lier and near-contemporary town and 

city halls in Ontario and government 

buildings elsewhere in Canada. Gothic 

may also have been perceived as quintes-

sentially English. Hiram Capron, founder 

of Paris, was born in Leicester, Vermont, 

but renounced his American citizenship 

in 1823 and swore allegiance to the 

Crown.45 There was also a strong desire 

amongst the “upper crust” of Paris to 

adopt the etiquette of British society.46 

In light of this it seems appropriate to 

seek British associations for the Paris 

Town Hall and what better precedent 

could there be for a Gothic public build-

ing than the Houses of Parliament in 

London? In 1834 fire gutted the Houses 

of Parliament. Rebuilding started in 1840 

with Sir Charles Barry as the architect 

and Augustus Welby Pugin providing the 

Gothic detailing.47 Surprisingly this did 

not give rise to a glut of Gothic govern-

ment architecture. In Remarks On Secular 

And Domestic Architecture: Present And 

Future published in 1857, George Gilbert 

Scott wrote: 

Few things surprise me more than the 

neglect which pointed architecture has 

met with among the builders of town-halls. 

Next to churches, the finest of medieval 

structures existing are, perhaps, some 

of the town-halls of Flanders, Germany, 

France, and some of the free cities of Italy; 

yet scarcely an attempt has been made to 

revive these noble buildings in England, and 

town-halls are continually being erected in 

our provincial towns in styles as thoroughly 

unsuitable as can be conceived, and at a 

cost which would, in good hands and in a 

right style, have enabled them to vie with 

the glories of Brussels, Louvain or Ypres.48 

There is a tradition of Medieval Gothic 

guildhalls in England as at St. Mary’s 

Guildhall, Coventry (1340-1342, enlarged 

1394-1414).49 The original masonry of 

the hall of the London Guildhall is the 

work of John Croxton (circa 1411-circa 

1440), which formerly had an elabor-

ate wooden roof over the hall as at the 

Paris Town Hall.50 The Gothic tradition 

continued in the 1788 south façade of 

the London Guildhall by George Dance 

the Younger, albeit spiced with some 

Indian references.51 Then of the Bristol 

Guildhall, 1844, H.S. Goodhart-Rendell 

remarked that, 

FIG. 18. �Adderbury (Oxfordshire), St. Mary,  
nave roof, after Matthew Holbeche  
Bloxam. | Malcolm Thurlby 

FIG. 19. �Devizes (Wiltshire), St. Mary, and other 
Perpendicular windows, after John Henry 
Parker. | Malcolm Thurlby

FIG. 17. �Paris Town Hall, Assembly  
Room roof. | Malcolm Thurlby

FIG. 16. �Oxford, Merton College, doorway, after  
John Henry Parker. | Malcolm Thurlby
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a l t hough f ar c lumsier in de t a i l  and 

arrangement, [it] resembles essentially the 

Houses of Parliament in the manner of its 

compromise between Gothic and Classic. This 

is the earliest neo-Gothic town hall of which 

I have found any record, and, if any others 

were built before the sixties of the century 

they were inconspicuous and uninfluential. I 

should be very much surprised to learn of any 

in whose design Pugin’s True Principles had 

been regarded, although in matters of detail 

they might mimic his practice.52 

Aside from guildhalls, the large rectangu-

lar hall with an elaborate open-timber 

roof finds a great pedigree in English 

medieval halls. Most famous is the Great 

Hall of Westminster Palace, roof for Ri-

chard II (1394-1402), and another fine ex-

ample is Edward IV’s Great Hall at Eltham 

Palace of the 1470s. John Maxwell’s Paris 

Town Hall does not presage George Gil-

bert Scott’s references to Belgian Gothic 

with centrally placed façade towers, as in 

Scott’s Hamburg Town Hall, 1856.53 The 

tower of the Paris Town Hall is a monu-

mental beacon of government just as in 

the London Houses of Parliament. It pro-

vides greater height than any classicising 

dome or puny tower like St. Catharine’s 

Town Hall. Monumental towers are not 

part of an English medieval guildhall trad-

ition; there is one centrally placed above 

the façade at Bristol (1844), but it rises 

just one storey above the walls of the hall. 

The height at Paris Town Hall reads more 

like a reflection of Italian Gothic archi-

tecture. The famous English Victorian art 

and architecture critic, John Ruskin (1819-

1900), eulogized on Giotto’s campanile of 

Florence Cathedral and was enamoured 

with the Palazzo Vecchio in Florence of 

which the tower is of mighty height.54 

Be that as it may, other than the clasp-

ing octagonal buttress on the campanile 

of Florence Cathedral, the details of the 

Paris Town Hall tower do not depend on 

Italian exemplars, yet the inclusion of 

such a monumental tower may well owe 

something to Ruskin’s love of this feature. 

The connection is difficult to prove but at 

least we may associate Maxwell’s use of 

Gothic with Ruskin’s view of the Nature 

of Gothic for the architecture of Northern 

nations. Ruskin proposed that “Gothic is 

not only the best, but the only rational 

architecture, as being that which can fit 

itself most easily to all services, vulgar or 

noble.”55 Following Augustus Welby Pu-

gin’s True Principles, albeit without credit, 

John Ruskin explained: “there is in cold 

countries exposed to rain and snow, only 

one advisable form for the roof-mask, and 

that is the gable, for this alone will throw 

off both rain and snow from all parts of 

its surface as speedily as possible. Snow 

can lodge on the top of a dome, not on 

the ridge of a gable.”56 It would be hard 

to imagine anything more appropriate for 

the climate of Upper Canada. Moreover, 

Ruskin’s pointed-arch-and-gable defin-

ition of Gothic fulfilled with the roof of 

the Paris Town Hall.57

FIG. 21. �Norwich Cathedral, presbytery window, 
after John Henry Parker. | Malcolm Thurlby

FIG. 23. �Paris, Sacred Heart, N (S) aisle  
window. | Malcolm Thurlby

FIG. 20. �Paris Town Hall, W window. | Malcolm Thurlby FIG. 22. �Paris, Sacred Heart Roman Catholic Church, 
interior to E, John Maxwell (1857), clerestory 
by John Turner (1881).
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On matters of detail, the octagonal clasp-

ing buttresses at the angles of the wings 

and the tower of the Paris Town Hall find 

parallel on the tower of the London Hous-

es of Parliament and on countless English 

Perpendicular church towers. The octag-

onal plan is also used for the angle turrets 

of the gatehouse of St. James’s Palace, 

London, constructed between 1532 and 

1540 for King Henry VIII, which building 

also provides a source for the brick ma-

sonry and square-headed windows of the 

Paris Town Hall (figs. 5 and 14).

Many of the details of the Paris Town Hall 

can be traced to English medieval sources 

published in the architectural press from 

the late 1820s through the early 1850s. 

The rectangular moulded frame for the 

doorway derives from Perpendicular and 

Tudor Gothic precedent and may be paral-

leled with the north doorway to Merton 

College Chapel, Oxford, illustrated in John 

Henry Parker’s Glossary and his Introduc-

tion to the Study of Gothic Architecture, 

in which there are also trefoil cusps in the 

spandrels (figs. 15-16).58 The roof design 

with the combination of braces to form 

a pointed arch beneath a tie beam with 

a king post, principal rafters and diag-

onal struts with tracery on the principal 

rafters and struts, is closely allied to the 

nave roof of St. Mary’s Church, Adder-

bury (Oxfordshire), illustrated in Bloxam’s 

Principles of Gothic Ecclesiastical Architec-

ture (figs. 17-18).59 The three-light Perpen-

dicular windows of the north and south 

fronts are a simplified version of one in 

St. Mary’s, Devizes, Wiltshire, illustrated 

in Parker’s Glossary (figs. 14 and 19).60 

For the east and west windows of the 

assembly hall, Parker’s Glossary does not 

provide a precise model, but the fusion of 

the dagger with the mullions and super-

mullions may be seen as a combination 

of the Devizes window with a clerestory 

window from the presbytery of Norwich 

Cathedral (figs. 19-21).61 

Comparison with Scott’s Civic Gothic may 

suggest that Maxwell was old-fashioned 

in the use of Tudor Gothic. Yet, it should 

be emphasized that Scott’s row of eight 

terraced houses in the Broad Sanctuary, 

next to Westminster Abbey, illustrated 

in The Builder, 1854,62 has both pointed 

and square-headed windows and stepped 

buttresses as in the Paris Town Hall. More-

over, the articulation of the central pavil-

ion with octagonal turrets capped with 

crenellations is similar to the facades of 

the north and south wings of the Paris 

Town Hall. Thus, at the very time Maxwell 

designed the Paris Town Hall, so Gilbert 

Scott used the very same Tudor Gothic 

motifs in his Broad Sanctuary design. 

The Paris Town Hall was constructed at 

a time of outstanding growth and ambi-

tion in the community. The Great West-

ern Railway Station in Paris opened on 

December 15, 1853.63 On March 4, 1854, 

the Brantford to Paris section of the Buf-

FIG. 24. �Pugin, True Principles, masonry and window 
joints. | Malcolm Thurlby

FIG. 25. �Kingsthorpe (Northamptonshire), window, 
after John Henry Parker. | Malcolm Thurlby

FIG. 26. �Filby (Norfolk), interior to E, after  
John Henry Parker. | Malcolm Thurlby
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falo, Brantford and Goderich Railway was 

opened and the following month the two 

railway lines connected at Paris Junction.64 

The grand scale and soaring tower of the 

Town Hall are a monument to the great 

civic pride of Paris in the 1850s.

Sacred Heart Roman 
Catholic Church, 

Sacred Heart Roman Catholic church 

stands at the southeast corner of Main 

and Washington Streets, and mass was 

celebrated for the first time in the church 

on Christmas Day 1857. The fabric was then 

incomplete and remained so until 1881, 

when various additions and modifications 

were finished to the design of John Turner, 

architect of Brantford (fig. 22). The sanc-

tuary was subsequently modified in 1912. 

Fortunately, we have a detailed descrip-

tion of the church, both in its original and 

in its 1881 forms. Comparison between the 

two accounts is most instructive. The ac-

count of the 1857 church tells us that:

[The church] is after a design by Mr. John 

Maxwell, of Paris, and is calculated to contain 

about 500  persons. It is a substantial 

stone structure without any of the sham 

embellishment and showy deceptions so 

common in American churches. It has been 

fashioned after the model of the ancient, 

modest country churches of England, 

though still much wanting, no doubt, in the 

best of these edifices. Reality has however 

been aimed at throughout. The Design is in 

the late Decorated style, and comprises 

chancel, nave clerestory, and aisles, steeple 

and porch, together with cellar apartments 

and flues suitable for hot air apparatus. The 

nave piers are of cut stone, with bases and 

moulded capitals; the window mullions and 

side-mouldings, their tracery and internal 

finishings, are of the same material, as 

are also seven doorways of the building, 

and some other minor parts. The nave 

and chancel arches have, for the sake of 

economy, been constructed of moulded 

bricks, for the manufacture of which some 

clays in this district are peculiarly well 

adapted. These bricks are of an excellent 

and enduring color, are of solid texture, and 

easily cut when necessary. They will not be 

exposed to wet, and constitute a finish nearly 

as cheap, and much superior in beauty and 

durability, to stucco sham-work. The small 

cruciform windows of the clerestory have 

not yet been put in, but may be inserted for 

small cost, at some future day. The roof is 

thoroughly open throughout, with moulded 

rafters, principals, wall-plates, too. 

It is not contemplated to finish the steeple 

at the present time, although about £150 

has already been expended on its basement 

apartment and the part of the steeple built 

above ground—some 25 feet in height.

The expense as yet incurred upon the 

building is about £1250, a price which is 

generally considered by competent judges 

to be exceedingly low, and no contractors 

have been ruined by the job, as the work has 

been almost entirely done by piece-work and 

days’ wages.65 

FIG. 28. �Paris, Sacred Heart, N (S) aisle window, detail. | Malcolm Thurlby FIG. 27. �Paris, Sacred Heart, N (S) aisle  
window. | Malcolm Thurlby
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The description of the church is remark-

ably well informed on the architectural 

theory of the time as witnessed by such 

remarks as none of “the sham embellish-

ment and showy deceptions so common 

in American churches,” and “[i]t has been 

fashioned after the model of the ancient, 

modest country churches of England,” plus 

references to reality aimed at throughout, 

late Decorated design, nave piers of cut 

stone, window tracery and side mouldings 

of stone, brick for the nave and chancel 

arches “much superior in beauty and dur-

ability, to stucco sham-work”; and the 

open timber roof. It is tempting to sug-

gest that the description was written by 

John Maxwell himself in that it reflects 

Augustus Welby Pugin’s True Principles 

as advocated by William Hay in an article 

in the Anglo-American Magazine, pub-

lished in Toronto.66 Hay further praised 

the “ancient village churches of England” 

and pronounced that “[t]here is a beauty 

about those venerable fabrics, not easily 

described, but which is recognised as well 

by the untutored as the most learned in 

architectural science.”67 Frank Wills (1822-

1857), another strong proponent of Pugin, 

was a forceful advocate of reality in archi-

tecture.68 He maintained that “[t]he great 

secret of beauty of the ancient churches 

is their reality,” and warned against “the 

pernicious influence of sham.”69

Just as the Paris Town Hall, Maxwell’s 

church of the Sacred Heart makes pre-

cise reference to medieval architectural 

sources and displays a profound under-

standing of Pugin’s True Principles.70 Pu-

gin’s influence was strangely lacking in 

the Roman Catholic churches in Ontario 

before the arrival of Joseph Connolly 

(1840-1904) in Toronto in 1873.71 We may 

contrast John Turner’s Roman Catholic 

churches of St. Basil in Brantford (1867) 

and St. Joseph in Stratford (1867), both 

of which conform to the standard three-

aisle lath-and-plaster vaulted interior like 

Santa Maria-sopra-Minerva, Rome, which 

was the norm throughout Ontario. 

The aisle windows of Sacred Heart are 

excellent examples of Pugin’s advocacy of 

“Ancient Irregular Joints,” as opposed to 

“Modern Regular Joints,” as illustrated in 

True Principles (figs. 23-24). They also have 

Decorated two-light flowing tracery, based 

on real medieval models as at Kingsthorpe 

(Northamptonshire), illustrated in Parker’s 

Glossary (figs. 23 and 25).72 The majority 

of windows in Ontario churches at this 

time have wooden frames and tracery, 

and therefore the “reality” of Maxwell’s 

use of stone is quite exceptional. Similar-

ly, the stone columns may be contrasted 

with the wooden columns in imitation 

of stone in the nearby Roman Catholic 

church of St. Basil in Brantford. The oct-

agonal columns with moulded capitals and 

two-order chamfered arches for the nave 

arcades at Sacred Heart are common in 

English parish churches of the thirteenth 

and fourteenth centuries and exemplars 

would have been available to Maxwell in 

books like Brandon’s Parish Churches.73 Fil-

by (Norfolk) nave has octagonal columns 

and two-light aisle windows with flowing 

tracery (figs. 22 and 26). Also at Filby, the 

small quatrefoil clerestory windows may 

have inspired the proposed “cruciform” 

clerestory windows in Sacred Heart. 

The description praises the durability and 

colour of the brick used for the chancel 

arch and nave arcade and adds that this is 

“much superior in beauty and durability, 

to stucco sham-work.” This suggests that 

the brickwork was exposed, a feature that 

conforms to a High Victorian aesthetic as 

advocated by George Edmund Street for 

“town churches.”74 

In the easternmost window of the north 

nave aisle, the stained glass was a “Gift of 

J. Maxwell” (figs. 27-28). Like Maxwell’s 

architectural details, the design of the glass 

follows medieval precedent in incorporat-

ing stiff-leaf and vine scrolls from Early Eng-

lish and Decorated sources respectively. 

FIG. 29. �Paris, Sacred Heart, interior to E, pre-1912 (Paris Museum and Archives). | Malcolm Thurlby
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Sacred Heart church was completed by 

Brantford architect, John Turner, and was 

dedicated on Sunday, February 6, 1881.75 

The report of the dedication includes a 

description of the building: 

The R.C. Church at Paris has, during the 

past season, undergone many changes. A 

spire 110 feet has been erected. The roof 

has been raised 8 feet, and 4 handsome 

gothic windows placed in each side of the 

clear story. The whole of the roofs and spire 

are slated, the walls on the inside are newly 

plastered and blocked, in imitation of well 

bonded masonry. The chancel and vestry to 

the rear, 18 x 40, are built to correspond 

with the stonework of the church. The 

chancel on the inside is very handsomely 

finished—gothic dudoing—grained ceiling, 

coloured blue, with large stucco mouldings 

on each angle. The altar is of excellent 

design, about 11 feet wide by 24 feet high. 

The whole of the work is well executed. Cost 

about $7,000.76

The History of the County of Brant, On-

tario (1883) reports:

The Catholic Church was the pioneer church 

of Paris, and can boast of an edifice which 

far surpasses all the ecclesiastical buildings, 

and is in truth the architectural glory of this 

part of the town. It is located on the corner 

of Washington and Main Streets, and was 

first used for Divine service in 1857.77 

[The 1883 account continues:] The church 

is a fine specimen of decorated [sic] Gothic; 

the tower is lofty, with a very beautiful 

spire, surmounted by a cross of gold. The 

building is constructed of a very rich field 

stone, to which time is likely to add fresh 

beauty and depth of colour. The coping 

and caps for buttresses are of the best 

cut stone from Ohio. The interior of this 

church is very striking. The spirit of true 

Gothic art is carried out in the minutest 

detail; everything is real; there are no 

trashy ornaments, no painted woodwork to 

resemble stone. On each side are transepts 

separated from the body of the nave by five 

massive pillars of cut stone surmounted by 

arches, which give the effect of distance 

to this beautifully proportional church and 

sanctuary. The roof of the nave is open 

work, on each side, the light falls through 

the stained glass of the clerestory windows 

[…] The nave and transepts are seated with 

oakwood; the windows all of stained glass, 

are for the most part gifts. The mullions and 

tracings, which are modified, are chastened 

examples of the decorative [sic] style, and 

all of cut stone.

The tower of this church is fif teen feet 

square, and the spire a hundred and ten 

feet high. The nave is ninety feet by forty-

five, the chancel and sanctuary twenty-

four feet by twenty, and beyond this, 

communicating with the priest’s house, a 

vestry eighteen feet by fifteen. The roof is 

of slate. The altar is on festive occasions 

decorated with handsome gilt candlesticks. 

It is surmounted with an elaborately-carved 

Gothic reredos, containing in the centre a 

tabernacle or pyx for the Holy Sacrament, 

before which the perpetual lamp is burning; 

also above this a gilt crucifix of singular 

beauty, and four niches containing figures 

of the four Evangelists, each with the 

appropriate symbol—the Sacrificial Ox of 

St. Luke, the Human Figure which marks 

the Evangelist of the Incarnation, the Lion 

of St. Mark, The Eagle of St. John. At the 

north or “Gospel” side is an oil painting, the 

work of a French artist, representing the 

baptism of Our Saviour. There are two side 

chapels; that to the south, of St. Joseph, 

that to the north, of the Blessed Virgin, 

whose image represents a face and figure 

of ideal purity and benignity. The transept 

walls are decorated with a cheap but not 

inartistic series of pictures of the Stations 

of the Cross. The baptismal font is of white 

marble, carved in imitation of an ancient 

font at Oxford. The entire cost of the 

building was $20,000, mainly raised by the 

energy of Father Dowling. It was dedicated 

to the Sacred Heart of the Redeemer, in 

February, 1881, by Bishop Crinnon, who 

then appointed Father Dowling to be Vicar-

General of the Diocese.

While the masonry of Turner’s additions 

to the fabric conform to Maxwell’s stan-

dards, it is clear that Pugin’s principles 

are diminished with Turner. The plaster 

was blocked in imitation of masonry, the 

very sort of sham abhorred by Maxwell 

the “realist.” The clerestory windows 

have wooden tracery rather than stone 

used for the aisle windows. The chancel 

arch is enriched with plaster capitals and 

mouldings and an old photograph pre-

served in the Paris Museum and Archives, 

taken before the 1912 remodelling of the 

chancel, shows that John Turner opted 

for a quadripartite rib vault in imitation 

of stone and round clerestory windows 

(fig. 29). The High Gothic reredos, as de-

scribed in 1883, is also seen in the pre-

1912 photograph. It was removed after 

the Second Vatican Council (1965).

Conclusion

St. James’s Anglican Church, the Town 

Hall, and Sacred Heart Roman Catholic 

Church in Paris serve as excellent barom-

eters of changing attitudes towards Gothic 

Revival architecture in Victorian Ontario. 

The Town Hall and Sacred Heart introduce 

the previously unpublished work of the 

architect John Maxwell and amply dem-

onstrate the great impact of current Brit-

ish architectural theory in the work of this 

local practitioner in the 1850s.  

notes

1.	 I should like to thank David Powell for sug-
gesting Paris Town Hall as a research topic. I 
am deeply indebted to John Runnquist, owner 
of Paris Town Hall, for providing unlimited ac-
cess to the building, permission to photograph 



Malcolm Thurlby > essaY | essaI

31JSSAC | JSÉAC 34 > No 1 > 2009

it in detail, and for sharing his considerable 
knowledge of its history and structure. Bob 
Hasler, president of Paris Museum and Ar-
chives, has been an enthusiastic supporter 
of the research for this project and a brilliant 
guide to the material in his care. Ruth Lefler 
kindly drew my attention to aspects of the 
history of Paris and Brant County associated 
with my research. With characteristic generos-
ity, Robert G. Hill has provided references to 
John Maxwell from his Biographical Diction-
ary of Architects in Canada. Rob Hamilton has 
also assisted with research related to Maxwell. 
Father Michael Bennett kindly facilitated pho-
tography at Sacred Heart Roman Catholic 
Church, as did Brian Edwards at St. James’s 
Anglican Church. 

2.	 MacRae, Marion and Anthony Adamson, 1963, 
The Ancestral Roof: The Domestic Architec-
ture of Upper Canada, Toronto, Clarke, Irwin & 
Co. Ltd., p. 140-141; Byers, Mary and Margaret 
McBurney, 1982, The Governor’s Road: Early 
Buildings and Families from Mississauga to 
London, Toronto, University of Toronto Press, 
p. 215-233; Ashenberg, Katherine, 1996, Go-
ing to Town: Architectural Walking Tours in 
Southern Ontario, Toronto, Macfarlane Wal-
ter and Ross, p. 89-108; Chapple, Nina Perkins, 
2006, A Heritage in Stone: Buildings of the 
Niagara Peninsula, Fergus and Elora, Guelph. 
Region of Waterloo, Cambridge, Paris, Ancas-
ter-Dundas, Hamilton and St. Mary’s, Toronto, 
James Lorimer and Company Ltd., p. 75-85. 
On Paris Presbyterian Church, see Iron, Can-
dace, 2005, “Thomas J. Rutley: A Presbyterian 
Church Designer,” Journal of the Society for 
the Study of Architecture in Canada, vol. 30, 
no. 2, p. 16-26.

3.	 MacRae, Marion and Anthony Adamson, 
1975, Hallowed Walls: Church Architecture of 
Upper Canada, Toronto, Clarke, Irwin & Co. 
Ltd., p. 263-264; Smith, Carl Frederick, 1944, 
Cobblestone Architecture, Rochester (NY), 
Great Lakes Press; Freeman, Rich and Sue 
Freeman, Cobblestone Quest: Road Tours of 
New York’s Historic Buildings, Englewood (FL), 
Footprint Press Inc. 

4.	 The History of the County of Brant, Ontario, 
Toronto, Warner, Beers & Co., 1883, p. 480-
481.

5.	 Id., p. 481. 

6.	 According to James Neilson (ed.) (St. James’ 
Anglican Church, Paris, Ontario, 150th Anni-
versary 1838-1989, unpaginated), the plaster 
ceiling of the nave replaced an arched ceiling 
in 1872, at which time a gallery was removed 
from the nave and a centre aisle put in. 

7.	 Iron, Candace and Malcolm Thurlby, 2007, 
St. John’s Anglican Church, Ancaster: An Archi-
tectural History, [http://www.raisethehammer.
org/index.asp?id=672], figs. 1- 2. 

8.	 Langley, Batty and Thomas Langley, [1742, 
Architecture, Restored, and Improved, by A 
Great Variety of Grand and useful Designs, En-
tirely New, In the Gothic Mode for the Orna-
menting of Buildings and Gardens, London], 
reprinted in 2003 as Gothic Architecture, Min-
eoloa (NY), Dover Publications, Inc., pl. LIX.

9.	 Neilson, op. cit.

10.	 A Few Words to Church Builders, p. 6; re-
printed in Christopher Webster, (ed.), 2003, 
“Temples… Worthy of His Presence”: Early 
Publications of the Cambridge Camden Soci-
ety, Reading, Spire Books, p. 138.

11.	 A Few Words to Church Builders, p. 13, #27; 
Webster, p. 145.

12.	 A Few Words to Church Builders, p. 5, #6; p. 
10, #16; p. 11, #18; Webster, p. 137, 142-143.

13.	 A Few Words to Church Builders, p. 12; Web-
ster, p. 144. 

14.	 A Few Words to Church Builders, p. 24, #50; 
Webster, p. 156.

15.	 Westfall, William and Malcolm Thurlby, 1990, 
“Church Architecture and Urban Space: The 
Development of Ecclesiastical Forms in Nine-
teenth-Century Ontario,” Old Ontario: Essays 
in Honour of J.M.C. Careless, In David Keane 
and Colin Read (ed.), Toronto and London, 
Dundurn Press, p. 118-147, at p. 129-131.

16.	 Thurlby, Malcolm, 1986, “Nineteenth-Century 
Churches in Ontario: A Study in the Meaning 
of Style,” Historic Kingston, vol. 35, p. 96-
118. 

17.	 Bennett, Vicki, 1997, Sacred Space and Struc-
tural Style: The Embodiment of Socio-Religious 
Ideology, Ottawa, University of Ottawa Press, 
p. 172-174.

18.	 Iron and Thurlby, 2007.

19.	 Ontario Archives, Minutes of Council of the 
Village of Paris, meeting of February 7, 1853. 
Copies of the Minutes are also kept at the Paris 
Museum and Archives.

20.	 Id., meeting of February 21, 1853.

21.	 Id., meeting of April 18, 1853.

22.	 Id., meeting of May 23, 1853.

23.	 Id., meeting of June 23, 1853.

24.	 Id., meeting of December 19, 1853.

25.	 [http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.ances-
try.com/~forontario/g-paris.htm].

26	 . [http://www.interment.net/data/canada/
ontario/brant/brantford/greenwood/green_
mn.htm]. 

27.	 [http://mail.brantford.ca/inventory.nsf].

28.	 [ h t t p : / / w w w . r o o t s w e b . a n c e s t r y .
com/~onbrant/voters.htm]; Reville, F. Doug-
las, 1920, History of the County of Brant, vol. 
I, Brantford, The Hurley Printing Company, 
Limited, p. 107-108, 113. 

29.	 [http://freepages.genealogy.rootsweb.ances-
try.com/~forontario/g-t-brant3.htm]. 

30.	 The Journal & Express [Hamilton], July 16 1850, 
p. 1. Thanks to Robert G. Hill for this refer-
ence. 

31.	 V i l lage of Par i s ,  1851 Census ,  p .   35 , 
lines 9-14.

32.	 Paris Star Centennial Issue, June 28, 1956, for 
reprint of Paris Star and Great Western Ad-
vocate, Wednesday, February 11, 1852, p. 1, 
for the continuation of the Maxwell advertise-
ment. 

33.	 The Specifications are preserved in the Paris 
Museum and Archives.

34.	MacRae, Marion and Anthony Adamson, 1983, 
Cornerstones of Order: Courthouses and Town 
Halls of Ontario, 1784-1914, Toronto, Clarke 
Irwin, p. 77-86.

35.	 Id., p. 138-141.

36.	 Id., p. 147-148.

37.	 Id., p. 165-166.

38.	 Id., p. 166-167.

39.	 Id., p. 150-152.

40.	The Times [London, Ontario], October 13, 1854, 
p. 2. I owe this reference to John Runnquist. 

41.	 Young, Carolyn, 1995, The Glory of Ottawa: 
Canada’s First Parliament Building, Montreal 
and Kingston, McGill-Queen’s University Press; 
Thurlby, Malcolm, 1988, “Ottawa Gothic,” 
Rotunda, vol. 21, no. 1, p. 24-31. 

42.	 MacRae and Adamson, 1983, p. 92-98, 267; 
Brosseau, Mathilde, 1980, Gothic Revival in 
Canadian Architecture, Ottawa, Parks Canada, 
p. 12, fig. 28; Kalman, Harold, 1994, A History 
of Canadian Architecture, 2 vols., Toronto, Ox-
ford University Press, p. 274-275. 

43.	 MacRae and Adamson, 1983, p. 99-108. 

44.	 Id., 1983, p. 168-169. 

45.	 Smith, Donald A., 1956, At the Forks of the 
Grand 1793-1920: 20 Historical Essays on Paris, 
Ontario, vol. 1, Paris, Paris Centennial Commit-
tee, p. 32; [http://www.parishistoricalsociety.
com/history.html]. 



32

Malcolm Thurlby > essaY | essaI

JSSAC | JSÉAC 34 > No 1 > 2009

1972, The High Victorian Movement in Archi-
tecture, London, Routledge and Kegan Paul, 
p. 172, pl. 128.

63.	 Hasler, Robert Lewis Rashleigh, 2000, Paris 
Junction, Paris Station (1848-1900); “The Hey 
Day of the Dream Era,” Paris (ON), Somerset 
House Publishing, p. 12.

64.	Hasler, p. 12-13.

65.	 The Mirror [Toronto], January 15, 1858, p. 3. I 
owe this reference to Robert G. Hill.

66.	Hay, William, [1853, “The Late Mr. Pugin and 
the Revival of Christian Architecture,” Anglo-
American Magazine, vol. II, p. 70-73], reprinted 
in Simmins, Geoffrey (ed.), Documents in Can-
adian Architecture, 1992, Peterborough (ON), 
Broadview Press. 

67.	 Hay, William, “Ecclesiastical Architecture: Vil-
lage Churches,” Anglo-American Magazine, 
vol. 4 (1854), p. 20-22; [http://www.archive.
org/stream/angloamericanma00unkngoog]. 

68.	Wills, Frank, 1848, “Reality in Church Archi-
tecture,” New York Ecclesiologist (October), 
p. 8-12, [http://anglicanhistory.org/ecclesiolo-
gist/ny/1.html]; Wills, Frank, 1850, Ancient 
English Ecclesiastical Architecture and its 
Principles Applied to the Wants of the Church 
at the Present Day, New York, Stanford and 
Swords, p. 83-92. 

69.	 Wills, 1850, p. 89, 91. 

70.	 Pugin, Augustus Welby, 1841, True Principles 
of Pointed or Christian Architecture, London, 
John Weale. 

71.	 On Joseph Connolly, see Thurlby, Malcolm, 
2005, “Joseph Connolly in the Roman Catholic 
Archdiocese of Kingston, Ontario,” Journal of 
the Society for the Study of Architecture in 
Canada, vol. 30, p. 25-38, with full bibliog-
raphy. 

72.	 Pugin, True Principles… pl. 2; Parker, 1850, 
vol. III, pl. 236. 

73.	 Brandon, Raphael and J. Arthur Brandon, 
1846, Parish Churches, London, George Bell. 

74.	 Street, George Edmund, 1850, “On the Proper 
Characteristics of a Town Church,” The Ecclesi-
ologist, vol. XI, p. 227-233.

75.	 “Paris, Church Dedication,” The Daily Exposi-
tor [Brantford], February 9, 1881, p. 2; The 
Weekly Expositor [Brantford], February 11, 
1881, p. 1. 

76.	 Ibid.

77.	 The History of the County of Brant, Ontario, 
p. 479. 

46.	Smith, Donald A. 1980. At the Forks of the 
Grand 1793-1920: 20 Historical Essays on Paris, 
Ontario, vol. 2, Paris, Paris Centennial Commit-
tee, p. 142-145.

47.	 Port, M.H. 1976. The Houses of Parliament, 
New Haven and London, Yale University 
Press.

48.	Scott, George Gilbert. 1857, Remarks on Secu-
lar and Domestic Architecture: Present and 
Future, London, John Murray, p. 198.

49.	 On the origin of guildhalls, see Turner, T. Hud-
son, and John Henry Parker, 1851-1859, Some 
Account of Domestic Architecture in England 
[of the Middle Ages], Oxford, John Henry Par-
ker, 3 vols. in 4, vol. II, p. 176-177.

50.	 Hudson and Parker, vol. II, p. 179-80; vol. III, 
p. 281-282; Pevsner, Nikolaus, 1973 [3rd ed., rev. 
by Bridget Cherry], The Buildings of England, 
I, The Cities of London and Westminster, Har-
mondsworth, Penguin Books Ltd., p. 191.

51.	 Stroud, Dorothy, 1971, George Dance Archi-
tect, 1741-1825, London, Faber and Faber, 
p. 118-122, pl. 37 A and B. 

52.	 Goodhart-Rendell, H.S., 1964, “Victorian Pub-
lic Buildings,” In Peter Ferriday, (ed.), Victorian 
Architecture, Philadelphia and New York, J.B. 
Lippincott Company, p. 87-101, at p. 91. 

53.	 The Builder, February 2, 1856, reproduced in 
Young, Carolyn, 1995, The Glory of Ottawa…, 
fig. 13.

54.	Ruskin, John, [1849] rev. ed. 1907, The Seven 
Lamps of Architecture, London, J.M. Dent & 
Sons Ltd., p. 75-76 and 149. 

55.	 Ruskin, John, 1981, The Stones of Venice, Jan 
Morris (ed.), Boston and Toronto, Little, Brown 
and Company, p. 123.

56.	 Id., p. 134.

57.	 Id., p. 135-136. 

58.	Parker, John Henry, 1850, 5th ed. enlarged, A 
Glossary of Terms used in Grecian, Roman, Ital-
ian, and Gothic Architecture, 3 vols., Oxford, 
John Henry Parker/London, John Bogue, vol. II, 
pl. 81; Parker, John Henry, 1849, An Introduc-
tion to the Study of Gothic Architecture, Lon-
don, James Parker and Co., fig. 154.

59.	 Bloxam, Matthew Holbeche, 1829, The Prin-
ciples of Gothic Ecclesiastical Architecture, 
London, W. Kent and Co., ill. p. 227 and 229. 

60.	 Parker, 1850, pl. 253.

61.	 Parker, 1850, pl. 252.

62.	 The Builder, vol. 10, May 8, 1852, p. 289; The 
Builder, 12, 1854, 115 ill.; Muthesius, Stefan, 




